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PREFACE

THE CREATIVE FORCE OF FAITH

The deep rooted history of Iran is filled with proud periods that along
the path of mankinds progress have exercised a deep influence on the history
of world civilization. Throughout the centuries, the Iranian people have not
only courageously difended this sacred soil against the invader and would-be
conqueror, but also the spiritual and moral force and the creative power
of the Iranians have given Iran a prominent place in the history of art. The
ideas of Iranian religious leaders and philosophers still guide the culture
of humanity; and their influence acts as a force and guiding light to Western
civilization.

The Iranians, from the earliest times, displayed a bounteous talent in
the fashioning of works of art. A God-given discernment has enabled them
to give the world the finest of artistic works and to make the word “‘art”
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and the name “‘Iran’ synonymous. For thousands of years, the civilized
world has praised the Iranian genius for its artistic achievement. Iranian
art displays both the qualities of sensitivity and creativity. Both heart and
mind answer to the artist’s call.

Among all the forms possible, only those appear in Iranian art that
constitute significant and true forms, reduced to their simplest elements
and so articulated as to express the very essence and spirit of the form.

In all the fields of literature and art, the Iranians have left the imprint
of their own special genius. The sweet verse of its poets, its pleasing music,
astonishing bas-reliefs, wondrous architecture, delicate miniatures and fine
arts. each inspires awe, a sense of majesty and pride. The most influential
factor in endowing Iranian art with its scope and greatness is the wide range
and variety of cultures with which the Iranians have come into contact.
Innate artistic taste, a piercing intellect and flexibility permitted the Ira-
nians to incorporate forms and ideas of the culture of others into their own,
without affecting the unity and individuality of Iranian art.

Here we must say a word about the art and techniques of Iranian ar-
chitecture. The ruins of Persepolis, Takht-e Jamshid, Pdsdrgad and Shiish,
the Shdh and Shaykh Lotfollih Mosques in Isfahdn, the Friday Mosque
in Shirdz, the mausoleum of Bdyazid Bastdmi in Bastam and of Oljeitii at
Soltaniyyeh, various samples of brick, tile and mosaic work : all are exam-
ples of the Iranian genius for architecture and the creation of beautiful
buildings and structures.

A study of the native arts, and particularly architecture, is valuable not
only for showing us that Iranian artisans were fully competent at applying
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difficult architectural principles and, by utilizing lasting materials, ensured
the strength and endurance of their buildings, but also for displaying the
delicate care and taste the Iranians brought to the beautification of the
exterior and facades of their structures. Artistic skill and a spirit of faith
and love of God came together in the creation of these buildings.

In Iran, religion has always provided a powerful inspiration for art and
beauty. Initially Zoroastrianism, then Islam and Sufism were characterised
by close affinity to poetry and art; and artists saw in all the aspects of nature
an expression of the perfection and the love of God. With deep insight and
discernment, they drew inspiration from religion to fire their creativity.

The Iranians grasped, more deeply than many others, the true spirit
of religion. When we gaze at the temple of Andhitd at Kermdnshdh, the
inspiring mihrab of the Shaykh Lotfollih Mosque in Isfdhdn or the grace-
ful domes and chambers of the Shrine of Imdm Rezd, we are involuntarily
overcome by devotion and spirituality. We sense that an artist or artisan
who seeks through faith and love of religion to create a work of value, draws
inspiration from a spiritual force,; and in striving to grow nearer to the God-
head brings his innermost spirit to the act of creation.

In such circumstances, the artist does not work for material reward or
worldly station. He seeks only to glorify God. Faith, under such conditions,
is a creative force, and belief in God becomes the well-head of the artist’s
inspiration. Art springs from delicacy of thought, purity of feeling, perfection
of taste, depth of intellect and from masterly skill. Art is a reflection of
the discernment of the truth and a measure of the achievement of perfection.
The well-head of art is love of beauty and truth.
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The splendor and majesty of Iranian religious buildings springs from
this love of truth, faith in perfectability and deep religiosity. Iranian artisans
have sought, through faith, to create buildings that survive time and the
elements. The purity of spirit, devotion and dedication with which these
structures were built ensure their eternal endurance.

The minarets against whose intricate designs the chant of the muezzin
resounds to the heavens; the shabestans which draw the spirit and mind
of the devotee towards their dark silence, free him from the “we’ and “I”
to direct him towards the ““He” and raise him closer to the angels; the tall
ivans, set between the minarets, seemingly like the glowing faces of the
faithful between upraised, prayerful hands asking God’s forgiveness: all
these are but examples of the achievement of Iranian architects, whose spirit
was imbued with great faith and their hands with great skill. Masterful
tilework is a special feature of Iranian mosques. As examples of architecture,
they are unequalled. And their wondrous designs and striking colours are a
reminder of the genius of Iranian craftsmanship.

Better knowledge and understanding of these great buildings, study of
Iranian architecture and particularly of the religious buildings of this land,
strengthens the foundations of fellow-feeling and religiosity among the
Iranian people.

It brings wider appreciation among the people of the world for Iranian
artistic genius. ,

The Asia Institute, affiliated to Pahlavi University, is charged by His
Imperial Majesty the Shahanshah Arydmehr to undertake academic research.
The purpose of the Institute is to deepen knowledge of the rich and valuable
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Iranian culture heritage. To this aim, and to the preservation of Iranian art
and historical buildings, Her Imperial Majesty the Shahbanou of Iran has
always attached a special importance, and as the President of the Asia Insti-
tute. has lent her full support to its activities,; her guidance has provided
the Institute with its inspiration in the discharge of its weighty duties.

Her Imperial Majesty has wished a study to be made of the buildings
of the Holy Shrine of Imdm Rezd and the nature and architecture of its
buildings. This weighty task, and the thorough research it involves, has been
undertaken by Dr. Bijan Saadat, a meimber of the Faculty of Pahlavi Uni-
versity. The valuable fruit of his endeavors is here presented to the devotees
of art and culture. We hope this volume will constitute the first chapter in a
more extensive study of Iranian religious buildings and that it will give
pleasure to scholars and art-lovers alike.

Dr. Farhang Mehr
Chancellor
Pahlavi University
Shirdz, Iran
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SYSTEM OF TRANSLITERATION

The following system of transliteration which is as close as possible to actual Persian pronounciation
has been applied throughout. However, the traditiomal spellings have been retained for words such as imam
and muezzin that have become common in English.
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INTRODUCTION

For some twelve centuries, the life-giving radiance of the resting place of Ali b. Misd, Imdm Rezd
(may peace be upon him), has lighted the eyes of the inhabitants of this land. The blessing of its Holy
Spirit has given them faith and life. Each morning, the rays of the eastern sun are privileged to kiss
the holy doorstep, and each evening, the souls of his devotees delight in circumambulating his sacred
Shrine. =

The Lord so willed that the honour of guarding the pure spirit and godly person of Imdm Rezd
should be bestowed on this blessed land. Grateful for such a bounty, each has offered whatever he or
she has of love, knowledge, art, discernment, wealth, and property, so that the court of his majesty and
splendour has raised its head to the heavens and Khordsdn has been crowned with a glittering diadem.

In about the year 200 (A.H. 815-6 A.D.) the soil of Khordsdn was graced by his beloved footsteps.
Two or three years later, that same soil was privileged to take to its breast that resplendent jewel, its
head bowed in humility.

Imdm Rezd was laid to rest in the mausoleum of Hdriim ar-Rashid at Sandbdd, one of the districts
of Tds. So powerful was the attraction that his presence exercised on his devotees, that Sandbad grew
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into a great centre. It put Tis into the shadow and, in memory of his martyrdom, came to be known
as Mashhad (place of martyrdom).

The Shrine of Imdm Rezd on numerous occasions was the victim of damage and destruction, until,
in the reign of Siltdn Mohammad Khoddbandeh (Oljeitii), it was rebuilt. During the reigns of the
Iranian rulers that followed the Shrine was beautified and other buildings were erected around it. Today,
the Holy Precincts of the Shrine of Imdm Rezd represent the greatest and most complete complex
of religious buildings in Iran.

It is unnecessary, in this introduction, to refer to the architectural variety and artistic perfection
to be found in the Holy Precincts. As already remarked, each of the ruling dynasties of Iran sought,
as a mark of their devotion, to add to its greatness and glory. This process achieved its most perfect
expression in the era of the Pahlavi Dynasty, and particularly during the reign of His Imperial Majesty
Mohammad Rezd Shdh Pahlavi Shahanshih Arydmehr.

In each era, Iranian master-builders and artisans, imbued with love and selfless dedication, devot-
ed their best skills and art to the further beautification and glorification of the Holy Precincts. To
turn over these pages, to study the pictures and read the text, and to cast light on the history of
the Shrine, is to delight the eyes with the vision of that paradise of the spirit, and to understand the
meaning of eternal bliss.

The responsibility for this study was entrusted by Her Imperial Majesty the Shahbanou of Iran
to the Asia Institute at Pahlavi University. The Institute, in turn, gave me the honour of this assignment.
The present volume, not worthy of King of Khordsdn but representing only the insignificant fruit of
the endeavours of this unworthy person, is presented to Empress Farah, Empress of Iran and Iran’s
patroness of the arts, that she may, by her approval and permission to proceed with publication, fill
all the devotees of Imdm Rezd, and also this humble and devoted servant, with joy and happiness.

BIJAN SAADAT
Pahlavi University SHIRAZ
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Khorisan

It is said the sun rises in Khorasin and spreads light over the earth. Khorasan is a cradle of
civilization, the birth place of the great men of history, of poets and scholars. It is the home of
Ferdowsi, of poetry and literature.

It is from Khorédsan that brave men such as Abl Moslem arose to defend the independence
of this ancient land and gain eternal fame for themselves and their country. The Parthians laid
the foundations here for a West Asian civilization. '

Khorasan possesses a glorious history. Even today the ruins of the “‘city of one hundred gates”
speak of its past greatness. It is among the flourishing and bountiful provinces of Iran. Over the
centuries, it has been the scene of battles and the target of invasions. But through the efforts of
its courageous people, it has always overcome adversity, fittingly playing its role in the defence
of the frontiers and the sovereignty of our country.

Khorasan is situated in the north-east of Iran. It is bound by the Union of Soviet Socialist Re-
publics on the north, by Afghanistan on the east and by Iranian provinces on the south and west.

In the past, Khorasan was larger than it is today. In Hodid al 'Alam, written in 372 (982-3),
Khorasan is described as ‘““a district to the east of which lies Hindstan (India); to the south,partly
the outlying areas of Khordsan and partly the desert of Karkas Mountain; to the west lies Gor-
gan; and to the north is the River Jayhtn. It is a large district, with great riches and abundant
wealth.”

Yaqht, the famous Iranian geographer, who died in 626 (1228-29) writes in Mardsed al-Etld.
“Khorasan is a vast land one end of which touches, through Jovayn and Bayhaq, on ’Irdq; and
the other end, through Taqarestin (Takharestin), Ghazna and Sajestan (Sistan) touches on India.
Among its important cities are Nishdptr, Harat, Marv, which is a part of Balkh, and Taleqgan,
Nesa’, Abivard and Sarakhs. Some consider Jayhtn and Khéarazm also part of Khorasan.
“Khorasan, it is said, contains four districts:

“The first is Irdnshahr, which is comprised of Nishdpir, Qahestan, Tabin, Harat, Plishanj (one
of the towns of Harit) Badghis (one of the districts of Harat and in the past a large city) and
Tis, which has been called Taberan.

“The second is Marv and Shah Jahan, Sarakhs, Nesa’, Abivard, Marv-Rad, Taleqan and Khva-
razm.
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“The third includes the western side of the Jayhtn River, Joridn, Khiarazm, upper Takhirestan,
Mavara’an-Nahr, Andaraneh (a town near the Hindu Kush), Sasin, Baghalan (a town in the
district of Balkh), and Valej (a city in Takharestan).

“The fourth includes Mavara’an-Nahr, Bokhara, Shash (Chach, where good bows were made),
Saghd (near Samarqgand, which, due to its clement weather, was known as one of the four para-
dises) and Nasaf (between Jayhiin and Samargand).”

In Nezhat al-Qoliib, Hamdollah Mostowfi recalls the greatness of the Khorasin of his day.
These sources and a quick glance at its history will show that Khordsén, due to its expanse, great-
ness and size of population,- was one e of the ﬁourlshmg provinces of Iran and one whose environment
was particularly conducive to the nurturing of abilities, talent and skills.

Khorasan today stretches over 313,337 sq. kms. and has a population of 3,166,000.

The Iranians were shaped and formed in Khorasidn. The various Aryan peoples who came to
Iran from the Ural Mountains and across the northern frontiers of Khorasan, were forced, by the
attacks of the native people, to create social and political institutions. So strong was the sense of
nationalism among the people of that region, that despite numerous setbacks, they never bowed
their heads in surrender.

The Iranians, with that same courageous and patriotic spirit, might have for a time outwardly
accepted the rule of foreigners, but such rule has always been temporary. Through the efforts of
its freedomloving people, Khorasan always threw off the foreign yoke and planted again the tree
of freedom and independence, and its people again showed themselves to be pillars of the perse-
verance and continuity of the Iranians.

It is thus hardly surprising that the first spark of the movement for independence, following
the Arab conquest, burst into flame in Khorasin. The Taherids and the SAimanids dedicated them-
selves to the freedom and independence of Iran.

We do not intend here to touch on all the details of the political and social history of Khorasan.
It is sufficient to note that Khorasian, where ‘“Mashhad ar-Reza” is located, is like the diamond
on the bracelet of Iranian provinces. Judging by past history, this brilliance shall continue to dazzle
for centuries to come. But Khordsén, always flourishing, today displays a particular grandeur and
splendour. Since, in addition to all the national and historical honours it has acquired, Khorasan
also provides a resting place for Imam Reza, the province is the focus of all attention and the point
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to which all eyes turn. The location of the mausoleum of the Imam in the ‘city of Mashhad has
provided fuel for Khorasdn’s development and growth. Each year, and every month in each year,
a large number of people make the pilgrimage to the Holy Shrine, and ensure the prosperity and
wealth of the people of Khorisan.

The City of Mashhad and Its History

Our concern in this book is, however, primarily with the Holy City of Mashhad, its history,
the buildings fo the Holy Shrine of Imdm Rezi, and the secret of its present glory and beauty.
Mashhad is not as old as Nishdpdr, Ddmghan and Tis. But as the place of pilgrimage of the
Shi’as, it has grown rapidly and flourished over the centuries, and has become one of Iran’s largest
‘and most beautiful cities.

Mashhad was founded in 791 (1388-89). Today, it boasts broad avenues, large squares, lovely
boulevards, expansive parks, a university, well-equipped hospitals, and modern buildings. Before
the rise of Mashhad, Tus the resting place of Ferdowsi, was the central city of Khorasan and a
home of famous scholars, poets and writers. Some historians believe Tis to be a city of the pre-
Islamic era. Some consider the founder of the city to be Tis Nozar. Others believe Tis was founded
by Alexander the Great. There is little historical foundation for these claims. What is certain is
that the gradual growth of Mashhad, and the pillage of Tds by various invaders, led to the decline
of that city. Today little is left of Tis aside from part of the old city wall.

Before Mashhad was founded, developed and became a centre of importance, Tiis comprised
two major districts, Taberan and Noéghin. The book, Hodud al-'Alam, written in 372 (982-83)
.and published in 656 (1259-60), says of Tis: “Tis is a district in which are located montainous
towns like Taberdn and Noghidn. At Noghén is located the blessed resting place of Ali ben Miisa,
to which people go on pilgrimage. The tomb of Hardn al-Rashid is also situated there.”

Ibn-Khalkin writes in the book, Vafiydt al-Imdm: “Tis is a district in Khorasan, consisting
of two towns: one Tédberdn and the other Noghin, which used to have 1,000 villages.” In Tis,
which enjoyed a mild climate, there was a village named Sandbad. This village lay at a distance
of onefourth of a farsakh (or about a mile) from Noghidn. Noghin was larger than Sinabad.
According to Idris and Ya’qiibi, up to the close of the 3rd century A.H. (9th century A.D.), Noghan
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was even larger than Téberdn, which was considered the central town of Tis.

The greatness of Tiis dates from the Islamic period. Up to the age of the Taherids (204-259/
820-873) it was a major town. It was then gradually replaced in importance by Nishapir.

Histories indicate that Tds was a flourishing town up to 548 (153-54). It was a city that produced
great men, like Ferdowsi, Khijeh Nezim-ol-Molk, Imidm Ahmad, Mohammad Ghazzali and
Khéjeh Nasir ad-Din Tusi, and which made a valuable and lasting contribution to art and
literature.

In 548 Tis was attacked and over-run by the Ghuzz Turks. Like other towns and cities of Kho-
risén, it was looted and its populace massacred. The Mongols inflicted further grave damage on
the already half-ruined city. Tis was just recovering from these two ruinous attacks when in 791
(1388-89) Mir4n Shéh, the son of Tamurlane, seeking to defeat Opak Mirza, beseiged the city.
When Tis finally fell to him, he built minarets out of the decapitated heads of the inhabitants and
left nothing standing but ruins.

Those of the people of Tiis who escaped these massacres alive fled to other cities. Some of them
‘chose to make their homes at Sanibad, seeking security under the protection of the Shrine of Imam
Reza. In 808 A.H. Shadhrokh Mirza, who unlike the other Timurids, was a humane man, charged
Khéjeh Seyyed Mirzad with rebuilding Tus.

Khijeh Seyyed MirzA applied himself to this task. But the people of Tas, whose memories
of their city were bitter and painful, did not wish to return again to the place. Thus it was that
the people of Tis remained at Sandbad, and Tis remained a ruin. But Sanibad, the place of the
martyrdom and burial of the Imdm Rezi (peace be upon him), became the habitation of the people
of Tds. Shahrokh Mirza, seeing little use in rebuilding Tds when its people refused to return there,
ordered a fortified wall to be built around “Mashhad,” and instituted measures to develop the
new. city.

Sanibid and its summer district

Because of its mild climate, its good water and its green fields, Sanibad was the summering
district of Tds. A residence had been constructed there by, according to some books, Hamid ibn

18



Qahtabeh, for the use of the notables of Tlis. Some believe that the building had been constructed
by Junayd ibn 'Abd ar-Rahman who had been named governor of Khorisan by the Ummayyid
Caliph, Hesham, between 111 and 116 (729-735).

Indications from a number of books are that persons such as Junayd ibn Abd ar-Rahman and
Hamid ibn Abi Ghanam T&’i lived in the residence. But reports are conflicting, and the facts uncer-
tain. Since the early inhabitants of this building are not directly relevant to our account, it suffices
to recall that in order to quell the rebellion of Rafe’ ibn Lay$, HarlGin ar-Rashid was forced to come
to Khorasan. According to Khand Mir, after three days in this summer residence, on Jamadi I,
193 (Feb-March 809), he passed away. ,

His remains were buried in the garden of that same residence. On the orders of Ma’min, the

~son of Harun ar-Rashid, a tomb chamber was built on his grave. Ten years later, when Ma’min
returned from Marv, and stopped on his way at Sanabad, he appointed Imam Reza as his successor.

Imam RezAd was poisoned and martyred in 203 (818-19). Ma’min, wishing to clear himself
of the suspicion of having a hand in the murder, ordered the remains of Imam Reza (may peace
be upon him) laid to rest in the tomb chamber of HarGin ar-Rashid; and thus the first foundation
for the buildings of the Holy Shrine was laid.

The name ““Mashhad” appears, probably for the first time, in the Mogaddasi’s book. Ibn Hoqal
who came there in 331 (924-43) referred to it as “Mashhad ar-Reza,” Yaqit Hamavi as “‘al-Mashhad
ar-Rezd” and Hamdollah Mostowfi as “The Holy Mashhad.”

The Buildings of the Holy Shrine

The numerous edifices that, collectively, are known as the “Astan Qods Razavi” or the Holy
Shrine of Imam Rez4i, are situated inside a circular ring road. The edifices were built in different
eras. The architectural styles of several centuries are represented in these buildings, and the de-
velopment of the art and techniques of architecture from the age of Harlin ar-Rashid to the present
day can be detected in its structures.

Among the buildings of the Shrine, the oldest is the Tomb Chamber which is the very same
tomb chamber of Harlin ar-Rashid and the resting place of Imdm Reza. The probable date of its
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completion is 194 (809-10), one year after the death of Har{in. Its foundations remained untouched
over the centuries. Changes were effected only on the efterior face of the structure (*) the account
of which will come later. The buildings of the Holy Precincts thus cannot architecturally belong
to one specific period and, except the three sides of the foundation on walls of the Tomb Chamber,
cannot be considered untouched, and still retaining their original form and related to one period
in the history of Iranian architecture.

Several forces induced change in these buildings. The Shrine and courts and chambers were
destroyed in various attacks, due to enmity to the religion of the inhabitants, out of strategic con-
siderations or from a desire for conquest (?). But the iove and dedication of the people, who be-
cause of their faith were killed and looted, led to reconstruction. Those who remained alive’ re-
- paired the ruins. During periods of peace, the faithful also regarded repair and beautifying of the
Shrine a means of achieving greater proximity to the Imadm, and as work deserving reward on
Judgement Day.

The Impact of Modernization on the Buildings of the Shrine

The Tomb Chamber, the court and the surrounding buildings have understandably been the
focus of the devotion of the faithful over the centuries. Such devotion has found expression in beau-
tification and renovation; and in the present age the buildings of the Shrine have also been subject
to change and transformation. These changes are described below.

But it should be noted that changes have also been introduced in the foundations and exterior
of the buildings of the Shrine in the interests of public health. ’

For example, the floors of the tomb chamber, the other chambers, the court of the Shrine and
the floor of the Gowhar Shad Mosque — important for the insight they could give into architectural
styles, the art of tile-making and types of materials used — were removed and replaced by ordinary
stone or marble for reasons of health and ease of cleaning. The rapid increase in the number of
pilgrims had made it difficult to maintain floors clean. The replacement of the candle-holders and
old lamps with electric lights was also necessary, even if it marred the traditional spirit of the building.
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The Impact of King & Governors

The artistic taste of kings and governors, the ruling tastes of the day and the work of architects
and artisans of each era also influenced the character of the buildings and led to their transformation.
Governors, ministers and kings have ordered the walls of the Shrine to be decorated, and the rulers
that have followed, not finding what had been done to their taste, have ordered the decorations to
be plastered over or covered with mirrors. In certain Shrine buildings, rich designs were covered
with mirror-work during the Qajar period.

The Impact of Time

The passage of time has also resulted in changes to the exterior and the structure of the Shrine.
Tiles, for example, are destroyed with passage of time and climatic variations. Repair and repla-
cement is thus necessary, and this mars the uniformity of the tiles. As a result, one can see in the
tile-work of the buildings of the Shrine examples of tiles from earlier eras down to the present time;
and close inspection will enable the student to distinguish the old tile-work from the new.

The Influence of Artistic Principles of Various Eras

Artistic tastes of various eras also had an impact on the structure and exterior of the buildings.
For example, mirror-work, while highly favoured in certain periods, is not now regarded by some
experts as ““Art”’, whereas faience mosaic tiles is unanimously regarded as a distinguishing cha-
racteristic of the Iranian mosques. There fore, recently, on the basis of instructions given by His
Imperial Majesty and a plan drawn up by the engineering department of the Holy Shrine, parts
of the walls and the ezdreh (the “skirting,”” or band girdling the lowest section of the wall next to
the floor) of the Tomb Chamber and the other chambers will be reworked in faience tile. There
is thus the possibility that all the mirror-work will, over time, be replaced by mosaic tile.

The passage of time also undermines the foundations of the buildings. Since part of the walls
and dome of the Gowhar Shid Mosque were in danger of collapse, the Endowments Organisation
has ordered extensive repair work. Walls and domes built in the age of Gowhar Shad Khatin will
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be built anew, drawing on modern architectural techniques, but maintaining the unity of the exterior
appearance of the buildings.

In the same way, since one of the ivdns of the Old Court (which leads to the Bast-e Bala)
was decorated in non-faience tiles, these tiles will be removed, and, to reinforce the uniformity
ot the tile-work of the court, the ivdn will be decorated in mosaic tiles. These changes thus con-
stitute tampering with the original work, but are necessary.

As a result, if study of the construction and the architectural history of the Shrine is not very
difficult, it is not very simple either. One who wishes to address himself to this task must deal with
the architecture of twelve centuries and pay great attention to detail.

Unfortunately, this task is made difficult by the failure of past observers to note down the
features of the earlier buildings and to provide ample descriptions, before subsequent generations
tampered with the form and structure of buildings. Books on the Shrine have mostly set down
only the names of the buildings and their builders, and paid less attention to the architectural stu-
dies. In short, a composite of the architectural styles of the Mongol, Saljiq, Tigmurid, Safavid,
Afsharid, Qajar and the present eras is observed in the buildings of the Holy Shrine.

The Architecture of the Haram

As remarked earlier the Tomb Chamber and Dome are the oldest of the buildings of the Shrine.
The Tomb Chamber was constructed shortly after the death of Harlin-ar-Rashid in 193 or 194.
The remains of Imadm Rezi were laid to rest in the same place. The foundations and supports of
the Tomb Chamber remain the same as those laid during original construction. Research has
shown that the attacks and destruction to which the Shrine buildings were subjected did no damage
to the basic foundations of the building of the Tomb Chamber. The only change that has taken
place occurred in the present era, when a part of the wall was removed to enlarge the chamber and
provide more ample room for pilgrims visiting the sarcophagus.

The chamber is square in shape. Its southern wall measures 10.40 metres, the northern wall
10.90 metres, the eastern wall 10.40 metres and the western wall 10.90 metres. Four soffehs (large
recessed niches) or ivdns stand on the four sides. Each is 3 metres wide.

The building was originally built with a special clay. The wall is three metres thick. But in re-
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construction, the remaining part of the wall was built to the same thickness in brick. The supports
of the dome thus now stand on a wall in which the part resting on the ground is of clay and
the upper part is of brick, two metres thick.

The interior of the Tomb Chamber was not initially decorated. The mortar on that part of the
" chamber, which was built in brick was for a time lined with lime. Later, at some date not known
to us, it was covered over with plaster and the plaster embellished with simple designs and colours.
On top of the first layer of plaster can be now found a second layer of plaster which may date
from the Biyid period. The decoration on the second layer is more precise and of higher quality
than the first. :

The walls of the Tomb Chamber were decorated for yet a third time with blue tile, gold and
cinnabar. This work can be traced to the Safavid period.

In 1155 (1742-3), the decorations and gold-work were reworked on orders of Nader Shah. In
the reign of Naser ad-Din Shah and when Azd ol-Molk was Keeper of the Shrine (1257/1841-2),
this decoration was replaced with mirror-work; mirror-work was also used to decorate the walls
of the other buildings.

The skirting around the chamber is of marble and rises to a height of 20 cms. Above this are
tiles of high quality. Most of these were made in the reign of Sultin Sanjar and are known as
Sanjari tiles. Calligraphy graces the tiles. They are among the finest examples of tile-work extant.

Above the skirting (ezdreh) there is an inscription in relief in the sols script on glazed tile,
comprising two surds from the Qur’dn. As mentioned earlier, since space in the upper portion of
the chamber was narrow, rendering the circumambulation of the pilgrims difficult, the area between
the Bala-Sar Mosque and the Tomb Chamber has been widened, and an open space has been
created whose support columns are at least three metres away from the zarih, or grill, surrounding
the sarcophagus. ,

To create this space, a large arch has been built across the western side of the Tomb Chamber
(between the chamber and the Bala-Sar Mosque), whose two sides stand on the northern and southern
supports of the sanctuary. Below the arch, a doorway was formed by using two pillars, allowing
pilgrims to pass from the Tomb Chamber to the Bala-Sar Mosque. The area below the central
arch is four metres wide. The doorways formed by the two smaller arches measure 1.70 metres in
width.
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In making these changes, a beautiful mihrdb, decorated with faience tiles, was removed entirely
from its former place and later safely replaced onto the same wall, but recessed about 60 cms. into
it. This renovation was undertaken between 1342 and 1344 (1923-24). The main arch is decorated
with striking faience tiles. An inscription on stone, one of the gdsidehs of Dabir ol-Mamailek Fa-
rahani, previously located on the bala-sar wall of the chamber, has now been moved to the newly
constructed supports inside the Tomb Chamber.

According to some accounts, the mortar of the chamber was made of Armenian clay, grape
juice and makhruj wool to give its strength. The mortar has in any case been strong enough to
withstand the weight of the dome over the centuries without suffering damage.

Travellers who visited the Tomb Chamber in the third, fourth, fifth and sixth centuries (10th
" to 14th centuries A.D.) make no mention of the details of the structure of the Tomb Chamber or
its decorations. It is thus not possible to give an exact description of the sanctuary in its original
form.

Abt al-Fazl Bayhaqi, who made a pilgrimage to the Shrine of Imam Rez& in 431 (1039-40)
has written nothing of the sanctuary. Even Naser Khosrow makes no mention of it in his Safar-
ndmeh. The fact that he was an Isma’ili cannot explain this oversight, and inexplicably, he describes
some of the cities of Khorasin but omits even a brief description of the tomb of Harln ar-Rashid
and the Mausoleum of the Imam.

Ibn Battlita writes in his travels, (he made a pilgrimage to the Shrine in 734/1333-34) that ““the
Shrine has a superb dome, inside a sanctuary situated next to the mosque. All those glorious build-
ings are part of the complex. Its walls are of beautiful tile. On the tomb is a sarcophagus of wood
which is covered with silver sheets; and silver candle holders have been hung over it. Above it is
a gobbeh (small dome) of silver. On the door of the sanctuary is a fine silk curtain and inside are
spread many kinds of carpets. The mausoleum of Hartn ar-Rashid faces it.”

The devotion of Shia’s and of certain rulers and governors to the shi’ i religion, and their interest
in and dedication to, spreading shi’ism naturally led to measures for the beautification of the Tomb
Chamber and the surrounding buildings. A scholar like Nasir ad-Din Tusi requested that after
his death his body be placed next to that of the Imam. ‘

The Mongol ruler Oljeitii who converted to shi’ism and became known as Sultdn Mohammad
Khodabandeh dedicated himself to the repair of the Shrine.
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During the Sdmanid period special attention was paid to the mausoleum. Bibakr Shahmard
sought to develop Mashhad. Although he was a cruel ruler he attached importance to religious -
matters. Sultdn Mahmid of Ghaznid (387-421/997-1031) dedicated himself to repair the damage
done by his father. He enlarged the sanctuary and built a minaret. He bought a village and endowed
it to the Shrine of Imam Reza. He sought to make up for destruction, resulting from the fanaticism
of Sultdn Sebiik-Tegin. However, Sebiik-Tegin caused no damage to the foundations of the build-
ings when he attacked Mashhad; the damage was inflicted primarily to the exterior of the Tomb
Chamber and the sanctuary.

The Ghuzz Turks attacked Khoradsan on several occasions and did not hesitate to inflict damage
to the Shrine. In 548 (1153-53) when they took Sultan Sanjar and his wife prisoner, and carried him
from city to city, according to Anvar, “they made the mosque of each city a stable and left neither
its ceiling nor its walls standing.” The Shrine did not remain immune from this plague. In 550
(1155-56) the Tomb Chamber and the dome were destroyed.

The chamber remained in this state until acting on behalf of Sultan Sanjar, Sharaf ad-Din
Taher Vajih ol-Molk, one of the Saljiiq military commanders and governors constructed the dome
anew. Accounts indicate that aside from a crack caused by an earthquake and repaired during
the Safavid era, no further damage was inflicted on that holy place, once Sultan Mohammad Kho-
dabandeh (Oljeitil) rebuilt the dome and the Tomb Chamber.

The bombarding of the Shrine by Tsarist troops in 1330 (1912) only pierced holes in parts of
the dome. The damage was later repaired, and it can thus be said that the present dome is the same
dome Oljeith raised over the roof of the Tomb Chamber and which was gilded by later rulers.

. The Interior of the Tomb Chamber

The Tomb Chamber, in which the blessed remains of Imim Reza is buried, has a strikingly
beauty and the mirror-work of the ceiling, on the inner layer of the dome, having been decorated
with fine designs enhances its glory. Ibn Battita says of the Tomb Chamber that the walls were
all covered with tile and only later decorated with mirror-work. If this was the case, the loss is an
unfortunate one.

The ceiling has at present two layers, over which stands the golden dome. The layer visible
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to the eye is concave and curved. The height from the floor to the inner layer of the dome
measures 18.80 metres. The distance from the floor to the tip of the dome is 31 metres. The outer
circumference of the dome measures 42 metres, and the distance from the beginning of the gold
part of the dome to the tip is 16.50 metres.

There were said to be calligraphic designs on the tile-work of the skirting of the Tomb Chdmber
these have been lost over time. The inscriptions gave the name of the builder, date of construc-
tion and the name of artisans who worked on it, but due to disregard for the proper placing of the
tiles during renovation, there are gaps and scattered phrases in the inscription.

There is another calligraphic inscription, on glazed tiles, which begins on the wall facing the
Imam (may peace by upon him) and working in an easterly direction, based on Qur’anic sdras.
- Further sdras appear in the same script around the soffeh situated at the feet of the Imam. The
calligraphy ends near the soffeh of Shah Tahmasb.

Behind and on the skirting tile-work of the soffeh of Shah Tahmasb, sayings from the Prophet
are written in the naskh script. The calligraphy includes two lines of poetry. Altogether, the cal-
ligraphy of the Tomb Chamber, apart from the content and significance of the quotations, adds
to the striking impression of the mausoleum.

The section starting above the calligraphic inscriptions on stone up to the base of the dome
were decorated with mirror-work by Mirza Sadeq Khan Qa’em Maqim Niri during the reign of
Naser ad-Din Shah. The mirror-work shows fine taste and artistry.

The sparkling mirrors, the masterful glazed tile, the intertwined calligraphy and the splendour
that the Holy Zarih confers on the mausoleum inspire in the pilgrim awe, depth of religious feel-
ing, and admiration for the craftsmanship and art that created the chamber.

The Tomb Chamber contains three mihrdbs. The first is situated against the southeast wall.
It is 1.75 metres wide and 2.40 metres high. The second mihrdb is situated against the southwest
wall. It is 2.15 metres wide and 2.60 metres high. Both are covered with fine, attractlvely colour-
ed tile, worked in Kufic scr1pt

The third mihrdb is situated above the head of the Imam. It is 1.25 metres wide and 1.90 metres
high, also worked in tile. A door, permitting entrance to the zarih, for cleamng and collection of
donations, is located on the southern side and near the eastern corner. It is 55 cms. wide.

Towards the end of 1975, at Imperial orders, the entire “skirting” of the chamber was covered
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by a glass frame to protect the sanjari tilework. The upper wall, worked previously in mirror-work,
was covered in faience tile, but in a manner so as not to damage the mirror-work beneath.

At the same time, work was begun on pulling down the shops and other buildings around the
ring road so as to create a large open space around the Shrine.

The Entrance Doors to the Haram

The Tomb Chamber contains four soffehs standing on the four sides and leading out of the
chamber. The northern soffeh is 2.3 metres wide and 3.2 metres long. It stands behind the head
of the Imdm and leads to the Mausoleum of Shah Tahmasb. Until a few years ago, it connected
the Tomb Chamber to the Bala-Sar Mosque, but changes were introduced when the Tomb Chamber
was enlarged. The eastern soffeh is 1.48 metres wide and 3.05 metres long. It links the Tomb Chamber
to the Dome Chamber of Hatam Khan. These soffehs lead through exquisite and finely wrought
doors to the outside. The doors, of considerable delicacy and beauty, are examples of the skills
of Iranian craftsmen. The golden door facing the Holy Imam (Dar-e¢ Pish Riy) is 3.20 metres high
and 2 metres wide. It is decorated with gold plates. (According to the Montakhab at-Tawdr ikh, this
door was gilded in 1272 (1855-56) during the government of Mirzi Mohammad Hosayn Qazvini,
’Azd ol-Molk, the Keeper of the Shrine. On this, there are copious 1nscr1pt10ns On the sides of
the two door is inscribed a gasideh from Sorlish Isfihini.

The lower door of the Tomb Chamber is also plated with gold. The door is 3.85 metres long
and 1.95 metres wide. It is worked in relief and extremely fine design. On the two doors are a number
of round protuberances. On one is inscribed an Arabic gasideh comprising the names of 14 martyrs.
On the sides of this beautiful door too a gasideh from Soriish Isfahini is inscribed.

The Zarih

Some historians and researchers date the sarcophagus of the mausoleum of Imdm Rezi to
the year 500 (1106-07). Various reports are given as to the first builder of the sarcophagus. What
is certain is that devoted kings and governors, each contributed to the beautification and enrichment
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of the zarih and the sarcophagus. Today, the sarcophagus is composed of coloured marble. It is
2.10 metres long, 1.06 metres wide and 1.90 metres high. This marble sarcophagus rests on a base
made of the same material. Arabic verses are inscribed on the sarcophagus, and ‘the date of the
stone, determined from the inscriptions, is 1351.

A steel zarih is built around the sarcophagus, encrusted with precious stones. Another zarih
of plain steel is built around the first grill. This structure dates from the reign of Fath ’Ali Shah
Qajar.

Fath ’Ali Shah presented the Shrine with a valuable, jewel encrusted door, of a width of 1.04
metres and a height of 1.70 metres. Behind it is a jewelled door 86 cms. wide and 1.60 metres
high. The door is made of wood, and it is covered with a thick plate decorated with various pre-
cious stones. This door is now protected by glass.

The Golden Dome

It is the great dome, its burnished gold shimmering in the sun, that first strikes the eye of the
weary pilgrim who approaches Mashhad from Shahriid or Nishapiir, along Tehran Avenue. It is
a thrilling, even awe-inspiring sight.

Unlike other Iranian domes, the great dome of the Shrine of Imdm Rez4 is cylindrically-shaped
at the base, and up to the point where the graceful curve of the dome proper begins. Only at
the Tarik-Khani Mosque at Damghan can a dome with a similar base be found, with this difference,
that in the Tarik-Khani Mosque, the cylinder of the base gives way to a cone-shaped dome, while
in the golden dome of the Shrine of Imam RezA the cylinder of the base is transformed into curve.

This feature of the dome of the Holy Shrine speaks of the originality, artistry and unerring
~ sense of Iranian artisans and builders. '

The dome is of brick and covered with gilded copper plates. The last occasion on which the
. gilding and gold-plating was renewed was in 1010-1016 (1601-1607), during the reign of Shih
’Abbis. According to some accounts, which appear reliable since such was the tradition in Iran,
the dome was initially covered with tiles. In 932 (1525-26). Shah Tahmasb ordered the tiles removed
and replaced with gold. The gold plates, along with other treasures of the Shrine, according to these

28



accounts, were looted when ’Abd al-Mo’men Khan Uzbek attacked the city. Shah ’Abbas thus :
ordered the dome to be once again plated with gold. :
Around the dome, at a height of 6.74 metres, there is a finely wrought inscription, 1.90 metres
wide and in four medallions, executed by the famous Safavid calligrapher, *Ali Reza *Abbasi. The
inscription notes that Shih Abbas began the gilding of the dome in 1010 and completed this work
in 1016. Below the dome, in a sols script, there appears in Arabic the words: “Dome by Kamal
ad-Din Mahmiid in 1015.” On the two smaller torangs are inscribed two lines of verse.
Following the earthquake of 1086 (1675-76), during repair work undertaken during the reign
of Shah Solaymain, a further inscription in four medallions was inscribed around the dome. The
work was done by the well-known calligrapher of the period, ’Ali RezA Eméami. '

The Minarets

The minaret is the structure from which the muezzin calls the faithful to prayer. In the tradition
of Iranian architecture, the minaret had more than a religious function and meaning. The two
minarets also constituted columns that reinforced the arch and were utilized to add to the glory
and beauty of the mosque.

Already in the early-Islamic period, the muezzin had a special place from which he issued the
call to prayer. Tradition has it that Bilal, the muezzin to the Prophet, stood on the roof of the highest
house or tower of the city to issue the call to prayer. In the early days of Islam the muezzin some-
times stood on the fortifications of the city; this tradition survives in the city of Damascus.

The tradition of the muezzin issuing the call to prayer from a prominent point, led the Muslims
to build a lofty place for the purpose. With the expansion of Islam and its spread to new areas,
it became necessary to build a mosque in every town and to add a place for the muezzin in
every mosque. In Iran, where the mosque was patterned after Iranian religious structures, the mi- -
naret came to be based on Sassidnian towers. According to Professor André Godard, the *Abbasid
Caliphs built a large number of such mosques in Arabian cities.

In his book, Ganjineh-ye Asdr-e Isféhan, Honarfard states the Iranians were not attracted by
the plain style of the Arab mosque. They began to embellish their mosques, utilizing various types
of beautiful tiles. They also applied Sissanian architectural styles in the construction of the sup-

29



ports, arches and minarets. The early minarets were simple; and there is little doubt that it was
the Iranians who began to elaborate on the style of the minarets and to apply originality of approach
and artistic expression to the construction of the buildings.

The minaret appears to have emerged as a feature of Islamic religious structures shortly after
the emergence of the mosque itself. The earliest minarets were constructed in the Ummayid period.
The first minaret to be constructed in the form we recognize today is to be found in the Friday

Mosque at Basra. The mosque was constructed in 44-45 (664-666) and is attributable to Ziyad
ibn Abihi, whom Mu’dwiya had appointed vali of Basra.

The second example of such a minaret occurs in the Friday Mosque of >Amr, which the vdli of
Egypt built in 53 (672-73) at Mu’awiya’s orders. The vali, Moslem ibn Mokhleh, had the mosque
. built with four minarets. A third example is to be found in the Friday Mosque in Damascus, built
in 86-88 (705-07) by Walid ’Abd-ol-Malek. Other examples are the mosque at Rammallah, in Pa-
lestine, the Friday Mosque at Qayrawan in Tunisia, the al-Ahrdm Mosque in Mecca (130/747-48)
and the Friday Mosque at Cordoba (180/796-97).

The earliest minarets to be built after this were constructed in Iran, India and Anatolia; and
the golden minarets of the Holy Shrine of Imdm Rezi at Mashhad and the two minarets of the
Gowhar Shad Mosque (821/1418-19) are among these early examples.

Before describing the characteristics and architectural style of the two golden domes of the
Shrine of Imam Rezi a word must be said about the structure and placing of minarets in general.

Traditionally, a minaret is composed of four parts: 1. the base 2. the shaft 3. the sarpiish
4. the ra’s.

The base of the minaret was traditionally of four, seven, eight or twelve sides. The base was
built on a solid foundation to carry the weight of the column. The column, raised on this square
or octagonal base, was cylindrical or conical in shape. After the base and the column had been
built, a kind of balcony was created for the muezzin. This was known as the sarpish. The sarpish
had the same shape as the base. Thus if the base was square or octagonal in shape, the sarpiish would
be square or octagonal as well.

The sarpiish is the most important part of the minaret. Generally, it is circled by a low wall or
grill-work. Above it is built a roof or shade to protect the muezzin from the elements. Steps lead -
from the bottom of the minaret to the sarpiish. The stairs begin either at ground level or the roof
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of the mosque, or they are placed inside the minaret spiralling upwards to the sarpiish.

There are instances, as for example in the minaret of the Friday Mosque at Cordoba, where
two stairways were built, one for ascending and one for descending. But minarets built in Iran
have all only one spiral staircase. Topping the minaret is a roof or shade of various forms called
a ra’s, on occasion of gold. A lamp or banner is sometimes placed on top of it.

There are no strict rules for the construction of minarets in mosques. The minarets are some-
times situated in the four corners of the mosque, as in the ’Amr Mosque; sometimes the minaret
is placed in the western or southern part of the mosque, or by the lower half of the wall, as
in the Qayrawan Mosque in Tunisia. Sometimes the minaret adjoins the entrance door to the mosque;
sometimes it does not.

In Iran minarets were normally placed on the two sides of the ivdn that is linked to the dome
and the sanctuary. The dome is thus usually situated between the two minarets. But at the Holy
Shrine of Imadm Reza, contrary to usual practice, the two gold minarets have been placed facing
each other in the middle of the two ivdns of the Old Court (Sahn-e *Atiq). This 1s unique.

The main dome stands above the sanctuary. The two minarets are thus so located that the pil-
grim approaching the shrine along Tehran Avenue conceives the dome as standing precisely be-
tween the two minarets. If he is not familiar with the buildings, he gets the impression that the two
minarets stand at the two sides of one ivdn; with the dome arched between them.

Materials used in constructing minarets vary in different countries, in keeping with weather
conditions and materials available. In Iran, minarets are built from brick and plaster.

The Shape of the Minarets

Students of Islamic and Iranian architecture have noted that Iranian architecture never lost
its distinguishing characteristics and always retained its own unique style. In the construction of
minarets, the Iranians also retained a kind of artistic independence. If we accept Professor Godard’s
assertion, that Arab mosques were based on Iranian architectural principles, then it follows that
the minaret was also based on Iranian principles, except that the minaret was in some countries
square in shape, while in Iran the shape was cylindrical, in keeping with tradition. In addition,
- Iranian minarets are distinguished by their specially fine and exquisite tile-work.
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The practice of decorating minarets and covering the surface with many-coloured tiles appears
to date from the second half of the 3rd century. From this period onwards, the column and all the
exterior parts of the minaret were decorated with brick, stucco, fine coloured tiles and verses from
the Quran. This practice, which came to be followed by others, originated in Iran.

The Golden Minarets

The minarets of the Old Court, which stand facing each other, have been worked in fine tiles
and gold brick. One of the two is situated near the golden dome and above the ivan of Nader
~ (south of the Old Court). The other is situated at the other side of the court and at the far end

of the opposite ivdn. On the north side of the Old Court, is located the ivdn of Shah *Abbas.

The minaret situated near the dome dates from the reign of Shah Tahmasb. Either he had the
dome both built and gilded; or it was built before his reign and repaired and worked in gold
at his orders. The gold plating on the minaret was renewed in the reign of Nader Shah Afshar
when, at his instructions, the walls of the ivdn of the Old Court were decorated in gold.

This minaret is 40.50 metres high. Its exterior circumference measures 13 metres. The lower
part, from the bottom to the point at which the tile work begins, is of brick. Part has been covered
in blue tile, on which Qu’rdnic verses have been inscribed.

The other minaret is located behind the ivdn of Shah *Abbas. The basic construction and gold
work took place in the reign of Nader Shah. In its dimensions and outward embellishments, it
mirrors the other minaret. The lower part of this minaret has also been worked in tile, and then
in gold.

The Minarets of the Gowhar Shad Mosque

On the two sides of the Small Ivin of the Gowhar Shdd Mosque, which is considered one of
the buildings of the Holy Precincts, there are two minarets each 43 metres high. The diameter of
each is three metres. The two minarets are worked in tile of great beauty, and are among the out-
stading examples of the art.
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The Buildings Surrounding the Sanctuary

The buildings lying adjacent and around the sanctuary, as mentioned earlier, date from different
periods and have not remained untouched. Symmetry is a common feature of Iranian religious
buildings and mosques. But the structures of the Shrine, built in different eras, lack this feature.
And the chambers and ceilings are of different sizes and heights.

Dar al-Hoffiz

Dir al-Hoffaz is one of the buildings constructed by Gowhar Shad Agha, the wife of Mirza
Shahrokh, son of Tamurlane, in the early part of the 9th century A.H. Dar al-Hoffaz is located
south of the Tomb Chamber. It is 18 metres long and 8.65 metres wide. The height from the floor
to the ceiling is 26 metres.

The northern end of the Dar al-Hoffaz is linked to the southern end of the Tomb Chamber.
Between the two buildings a door has been placed known as the dar-e pish rily (door facing the
Imam). The southern end of the Dar al-Hoffaz is linked to the northern end of the Gowhar Shad
Mosque. A door permits passage from the mosque to the sanctuary.

Dir al-Hoffaz contains seven recessed archways or niches (soffeh). The mausoleum of Abbas
Mirza, Na’eb os-Saltaneh, the Crown Prince to the second Q4&jar ruler, Fath ’Ali Shah, is located
in the soffeh along the southern wall.

* One of the archways leads through a door covered in finely wrought gold plate. The door, pre-
sented by Her Imperial Majesty the Shahbanou, leads to the Dar as-Siyyadeh. There are three
soffehs along the northern wall. One of these leads to the Dome Chamber of Opak Mirza. Tiles of
high craftsmanship, bearing finely wrought inscriptions, decorate the walls. The ezdreh, or “skirt-
ing,” rises to a height of 1.70 metres. Constructed of stone, it is decorated in relief. Above this,
inscribed in stone, is a verse from Qa’ani.

All the walls and ceiling of the Dar al-Hoffaz are worked in mirrors. According to the author
of Badr-e Foriizdn, the walls and ceiling of this building were initially of tile. But Soltdn Morad
Mirza, Hessam os-Saltaneh, replaced the fine tile with mirror-work.

Another golden door leads from the Dar al-Huffaz to the Dar as-Salam. It is a door of great
beauty.
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Dir as-Siyyadeh

Another of the buildings around the Tomb Chamber is the Dar as-Siyyadeh, a part of which
extends southwards into the Bala-Sar Mosque. Dar as-Siyyddeh was one of the structures built
by Gowhar Shiad Aghi and is among the largest chambers of the Shrine. It is 31.80 metres long.
Its width, in three sections, stands as follows:

The central section, with its two soffehs on the eastern and western sides, forms a polygon. The
two other sections, lying to the south and north of the central section, are each 7.70 metres long.
The height of the structure is 20.80 metres. Since the main chamber is formed by a central dome

flanked by two smaller domes, the width of the Dar as-Siyyadeh differs from point to point.
' A marble ezdreh rises 25 cms. from the floor against the wall (in some places it reaches a height
of 48 cms.). Above the marble to a height of 1.80 metres the wall is covered in mosaic tile. The
tiles are hexagonal, octagonal and square in shape, brilliant in color and masterful in composition.

Above the tiles a marble panel, 40 cms. wide, has been fixed and inscribed in a verse from Malek
ash-Sho’ard. Above this, the dome is worked entirely in mirrors.

The Dar as-Siyyadeh leads to the Gowhar Shiad Mosque and also to the Ivin of Nader Shah
and the Dar al-Hoffaz.

The Safavid ruler, Shah Solayman, repaired the damage caused to the Dar al-Siyyadeh by an
earthquake in the Safavid era. Verses attesting to this repair work and giving the date of its com-
pletion (1086/1675-76) have been inscribed above the door (®) that leads from the Dar as-Siyyadeh
to the Dar al-Hoffaz.

On the northern side of the eastern wall of the Dar as-Siyyadeh there is also a window, measur-
ing 3.45 x 3.26 metres, through which the Tomb Chamber can be seen. Above it are bricks gilded
in gold. Changes were introduced in the building during repairs. For example, between 1342 and
1344°(1923-35), when the chamber of Dar al-Ekhlas was built, the northern wall of the Haj Qa-
semi soffeh was removed. At the moment, there is a passage between the Dar al-Ekhlas and the
H3ij Qasemi soffeh. .

The Dar as-Siyyadeh contains a number of soffehs and one mihrdb. This indicates it was in the
past a mosque. This may be the mosque to which Ibn Battiita refers in the book of his travels. The
mihrdb is worked in fine faience tiles.
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Between the Dar as-Siyyaddeh and the Gowhar Shiad Mosque there is a silver door, 3.20 metres
long and 2.27 metres wide, donated by Anis od-Dowleh, the wife of Naser ad-Din Shah in 1284
(1867-68). A verse is inscribed around the door.

The mirror-work on the ceiling of the Dar as-Siyyadeh has required repair from time to time
Between 1330 and 1340 (1911-1921), the ceiling was repaired and the mirror-work was redone.
The buildings of the Dar as-Siyyadeh were in recent times completely repaired. The old inscription
was removed, and the damaged sections were built in strong green brick and reinforced concrete.

These activities tampered with the original architectural features of the building. The basic
structure has been preserved, but the building reflects the influence of new architectural features.

The Interior Decorations of Dar as-Siyyadeh

The interior decorations of the Dar as-Siyyadeh bring together many of the artistic skills and
forms of Iranian art, and weaves these, including the making of stalactites, to a high art. The
fashioning of stalactites is an Iranian innovation. Few have been able to copy it or to execute this
highly difficult and exacting art with the mastery of Iranian craftsmen.

The ceiling of the chamber is in three domes. At the centre of each a circle has been drawn. The
central dome is composed of nine small half-domes in three circles and the domes on each of the
two sides are composed of seven half- domes The stalactites and other decorations endow it with
a special splendour.

The largest section of the Dar as-Siyyadeh is decorated with simple mirrors on which are drawn
different geometric forms. Coloured mirrors are designed in the eslimi style (marked by curved
and twisting patterns), in medallions, calligraphy and script.

On the eastern side of the Dar as-Siyyadeh, which leads to the Dar al-Hoffaz, there is a soﬂeh
decorated with coloured mirrors, worked in various designs. Above the entrance door there is a
calligraphic medallion in the $o/§ script which reads: ‘‘As-Soltdn, Abt’l Hasan Ali ibn Misé ar-
Rezad”. Below it is incribed one of the famous sayings (hadis) of the Prophet. On the two doors
are two large frames bearing complex designs.

On the north and south sides of the soffeh there are also two large frames etched in a fine design.
Decorations in relief and worked in brick are also to be found in the chamber. The skirting is built
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of faience tiles, in triangular and hexagonal shapes, creating intertwined stars. The doors are master-
pieces of engraved design in wood. The large walls are decorated with slabs of white marble. The
stucco designs are striking.

! The Towhid Khaneh

: North of the Tomb Chamber, between the chamber known as the posht-e Sar and the Old
Court there is a chamber attributed by some to Molld Mohsen Fayz. The Towhid Khaneh was
in the past connected to the Posht-e Sar by a door. The door was removed to enlarge the chamber
and the Towhid Khéineh thus was opened to the chamber and the Shah Tahméasb archway. The

-whole now appears to be one large chamber.

The Towhid Kkaneh is 7.35 metres wide, 8.60 metres long, and 15 metres high. The skirting
(ezdreh) around the base of the walls is made of attractive stone decorated in relief. The building
was repaired by Azd ol-Molk in 1276 (1859-60).

The building is connected through a twisting passageway to the Dome Chamber of Alldh Verdi
Khan. It has a door leading to the Old Court.

Between the Towhid Khaneh and the Dome Chamber of Alldh Verdi Khan there is a silver
plated door 2.70 metres high and 1.93 metres wide. Between the building and the Ivin of Néader
there is another door in silver, 2.56 metres high and 1.78 metres wide, presented by Amir Nezim
Gardsi.

The Dome Chamber of Hatam Khén

On the eastern side of the sanctuary, there is a chamber known as the Dome Chamber of Hatam
Khan. Between this chamber and the Tomb Chamber, there is a door, plated in gold and worked
in striking designs and script. The eastern side of this building leads through a large room, whose
floor is one step higher than the floor of the Dome Chamber, to the Dar as-Siyyadeh.

The Dome Chamber is 7.30 metres wide, 13.50 metres long and 11.60 metres high. It was built
by Hatam Bek Ordiibadi, one of the commanders of Shah ’Abbas, about the year 1010 (1601-2).

The Hitam Khian Dome Chamber, its Dome, and the Dar as-Siyyddeh are so constructed as
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to give the viewer the impression that all three parts constitute one single chamber. The Dome
Chamber of Hatam Khan, repaired in 1240 (1824-25), is linked, through a twisting passage, to -
the Dome Chamber of Allah Verdi Khan. On the southern side, it is connected to the passageway
of the guardhouse.

The Dome Chamber of Alldh Verdi Khin

Another of the interesting buildings of the Shrine, and a masterpiece of architecture, tilework
and stalactite-making is the Dome Chamber of Alldh Verdi Khan. This structure is situated east
of the Towhid Khineh and northeast of the Dome Chamber of Hatam Khéan. It is octagonal in
shape, and for this very reason is considered superior to other buildings of the type, which are
usually rectangular. ‘

According to Ferdos at-Tavdrikh, Allah Verdi Khan was vali of Fars in the reign of Shah ’Abbas.
He was an official of importance. He is reported to have sent a personal representative who, with
the assistance of an Isfahani architect, was to see to the construction of the building. Work on the
Dome Chamber of Alldh Verdi Khan began in 1012 (1603-04) and was completed in 1021 (1612-
13). Alldh Verdi Khan himself was buried in the chamber in 1022.

The Dome Chamber of Allih Verdi Khan is 16.19 metres high. A narrow chamber, it is 8,86
metres wide and 11.10 metres long. The skirting, of marble, is 1.90 metres high. The remaining
parts of the walls are worked in the finest faience (*) tile. The harmony created by the intricate
combination of design, calligraphy and colour in the mosaic tile has not often been equalled else-
where. The mosaic of the interior of the chamber is in the Safavid style and displays the same features
found in the beautiful mosques of Isfahan.

Parts of the original tilework of this dome chamber were worn away or crumbled over time.
The restoration of these tiles was undertaken by the authorities of the Shrine in 1340 (1921-22).
The work was done with considerable craftsmaship, and the dome is graced with fine tilework.
Only a sharp eye can today distinguish the new tile from the old.

Around the interior of the Dome Chamber of Alldh Verdi Khan are eight soffehs. Above the
soffehs there are eight smaller soffehs or niches. The inner ceiling of some of these is worked in
faience tile.
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The exterior of the dome was in the present era covered with plates of copper as protection
against rain and dampness. The Dome Chamber of Allah Verdi Khan is worked in inscriptions,
embodying verses from the Qur’an, in faience tile. The intricate lines of the script create a design
of great beauty and attraction.

The Dome Chamber of Alldh Verdi Khan leads, through the soffehs to the Dar az-Ziyafeh,
the Old Court (Sahn-e "Atiq), the Towhid Khaneh, the Hatam Khian Dome Chamber and the Déar
as-Siyyadeh.

The Bala-Sar Mosque

The Bala-Sar Mosque is situated between the Tomb Chamber and Dar as-Siyyadeh. It is 4.50
metres wide and 8 metres long and 10 metres high. The ezdreh, or skirting, is 90 cms. high and of
marble. Above it, to a height of 1.70 metres the wall is worked in mosaic tile of fine quality, with
floral designs of hexagonal and octagonal shape.

This structure like many of the buildings of the Holy Shrine, was covered in mirror-work. Part
of this work was completed during the government of Mohammad Hasan Khan Silar and part
when "Azd ol-Molk was Keeper of the Shrine. Part of the mirror-work is attributed to *Abbas
Qoli Khén. ‘

The Bala-Sar posesses a mihrdb worked in faience tile. But the mihrdb is not very old and dates
from the present era. The roof was in an earlier period of wood and brick. When the Tomb Chamber
was enlarged, alterations were introduced to this structure. The chamber was reinforced with con-
crete in 1342-44 (1923-24) and covered with tiles. The mosque can thus be considered a new structure.

The Posht-e Sar Mosque

The Posht-e Sar Mosque is 3.60 metres wide and 7.70 metres long. It was repaired on numerous
occasions. A gasideh from Qa’ani appears above the skirting, commemorating the repair and de-
coration of the structure.

The Posht-e Sar Mosque was enlarged in 1346 (1927-28) to provide more space for the pilgrims.
The original shape was altered. But the alterations were necessitated by the increase in the number
of pilgrims and the march of time.
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The Riyaz Mosque

The Riyiz, or Women’s Mosque is connected on the north to the Towhid Khaneh and on the -
west to the Posht-e Sar. The mosque is 4.30 metres wide, 7.30 metres long and 9.50 metres high. It
can be considered part of the Towhid Khaneh.

Changes were also made in the outward form and the structure of this building during repairs.

Dar as-Sa’adeh

The Dar as-Sa’ideh is one of the structures built at the instance of Alldhyar Khin Agef od-
. Dowleh. Its construction was due mainly to the gap left between the Gold Ivan of the New Court
and the Dome Chamber of Hiatam Khin, following the construction of the New Court.

The Dar as-Sa’ddeh is 14.90 metres long, 12.80 metres wide and 14.80 metres high. The walls
are covered by mirror-work. Above the ezdreh appears inscribed a verse from Malek ash-Sho’ard
Sabiri. This structure has also not remained untouched. In 1334-44 (1915-26), its ceiling was re-
paired and the mirror-work was renewed. The north ivdn was eliminated and a wide portal was
opened on the south side of the Dir as-Sa’ddeh to the Dar as-Soriir. The south ivdn was also re-
moved. : '

A door worked in silver was placed between the Dar as-Sa’adeh and the Dar as-Sortr. The
door was built during the reign of the present monarch, Shahanshah Aryamehr.

Dar az-Ziyifeh

The Dar az-Ziyafeh was built following the construction of the New Court and is located be-
tween this court and the Dome Chamber of Alldh Verdi Khdn. The main section is 15.50 metres
long, 9.50 metres wide and 15 metres high. On the north and south sides, royal boxes (shdh-
neshin) have been created. The northern shédh-neshin leads to the Old Court.

The ezdreh of the chamber is of marble and 1.50 metres high. Above it, in §ol§ script there is
inscribed a verse from the Qur’an. The portion of the wall above the inscription and up to the ceiling
is worked in mirrors.
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The Dar az-Ziyafeh has two passageways leading to the New Court. There is passage from
the western side to the Dome Chamber of Allah Verdi Khin. The ivdn on the western wall is worked
in stalactites, and attributed to Alldh Verdi Khin. The mirror-work and the faience tile of the ivdn
are among the finest examples of the kind.

Dar as-Soriir

Dar as-Sorfr is situated south of the Dar as-Sa’adeh. The chamber is 4.80 metres wide, 24 metres
long and 4.70 metres high. Like in the other buildings, the ezdreh is of marble. The walls are covered
with mirror-work. In the past the Dar as-Sorlir was made up of several rooms. The pantry of the
Shrine was located there. In 1334-1338 (1916-20) these rooms were transformed into one large

" chamber.

Dér al-’Ezzeh

The Dar al-’Ezzeh was previously the guardhouse or the kishik-khdneh, for the staff of the shrine.
The Madresseh of ’Ali Naqi Mirzé used to be located on the estern side. It is one of the newer
buildings, having undergone thorough repair in the years 1342-44 (1924-26) and decorated with
mirror-work. The structure is 3.10 metres wide, 11.50 metres long and 4.35 metres high. It is con-
nected to the Dar as-Sorir and the Dar az-Zekr. When the Dar as-Saldm was enlarged and repaired,
three openings were made in the western wall of the Dar al-’Ezzeh to Dar as-Saldm. A stone railing
was placed before it and the south wall was repaired and linked to the shabestdn (oratory) of the
Gowhar Shiad Mosque.

The Opak Mirzi-Dome Chamber

To the southeast of the sanctuary, there is a chamber which leads through a silver door to the
guardhouse and has come to be known as the kishik-khdneh passageway. This dome chamber is
connected to the Dome Chamber of Hiatam Khén and the Dar al-Hoffaz. The floor of the chamber
is two steps higher than the floor of the Dome Chamber of Hatam Khan. The Dome Chamber of
Opak Mirza is 8.40 metres long and 8.20 metres wide and 13 metres high. Major reconstruction
took place in 1346 (1927-28) and the chamber is now part of Dar as-Salam.
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Dar as-Salam

The Dar as-Saldm, the Chamber of Peace, was originally built by that devout lady, Gowhar
Shiad Agha, at the same time as she ordered the construction of Dar al-Hoffaz and Dér as-Siyyadeh.

For a period, the Dar as-Saldm, which had been given an upper floor, served as a storehouse
for rugs (ground floor) and provided rest rooms (upper floor) for the Shrine. But in the repairs
undertakan in 1334-38 (1916-20), the middle ceiling was removed and the structure was trans-
formed into a single chamber. Following repairs and decoration, it was named the Dar as-Salam.

The chamber is connected to the shabestdn of the Gowhar Shad Mosque, the Dar al-Hoffaz,
the Dome Chamber of Opak Mirzi and the Dar al-Ezzeh, through two passageways. During re-
pairs to the building in 1346 (1927-28) and to accommodate the greater number of pilgrims and
create a larger space in the buildings surrounding the Tomb Chamber, changes were introduced
in the Dar as-Saldm and the kishik-khdneh passageway. Dar as-Saldm emerged as a handsome
chamber 20 metres long, 10 metres wide and 9.5 metres high. _

The ezdreh, or skirting, of the building is of green stone 1.65 metres high. An inscription is fol-
lowed by mirror-work. A noble mihrdb has taken the place of the door that led to the shabestdn
of the Gowhar Shad Mosque. On the west side of the Dar as-Saldm, two large structures have been
created, which are connected to the Dar al-Hoffdz, and enhance its beauty and sense of proportion.

Three openings have been created on the eastern side, along which stone railings have been
built. This has created another passage, in addition to the previous one, between the chamber and
the Dome Chamber of Hitam Khan. The chamber contains marble plaques on which verses have
been inscribed. In 1346 (1927-28) the foundations of the building were renewed and built with rein-
forced concrete. It can thus be said that the Dar as-Salim is a new structure, in which an effort
was made to retain traditional features.

Dér ash-Shokr

A further change to permit accomodation of the growing numbers of pilgrims was introduced
in 1343-44 (1924-25). At that time, the area of the former reading rooms of the Shrine, entered
through the southeastern corner of the Gold Ivéan of the Old Court, was transformed into a chamber
by the addition of part of the passageway leading from the B4la Sar Mosque to the Towhid Khéaneh.
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This chamber was constructed utilizing modern architectural techniques. It was named the
Dar ash-Shokr. It is 6.5 metres long, 6.5 metres wide and 9.50 metres high. Its doors open to the
Gold Ivan of the Old Court, the Bald Sar, the Dar al-Ekhlas and the Towhid Khaneh.

The ezdreh is 1.70 metre high, built of marble. The portion of the wall above the ezdreh and
the ceiling are covered in mirror-work. There are three soffehs along the walls.

The Diar al-Ekhlis

The Dar al-Ekhlas was created out of the old sagqd-khdneh passageway, the southeast corner
of the Gold Ivan (Old Court), the large area for taking off the shoes in this court, and the room
used by the head of the shrine. The purpose was once again to improve accommodation of pilgrims.
The chamber is connected to the Dar as-Siyyddeh, Dar al-Hoffdz and the Tomb Chamber. It is
12.80 metres long, 10 metres wide and 9.5 metres high.

The ezdreh, as in other buildings where repair and reconstruction has taken place, is 1.70 metres
high. The walls and ceiling are covered with skillful mirror-work.

The Courts and the Esplanades

The complex of buildings that comprise the Holy Shrine of Imadm Reza are ringed by a circular
road. The buildings are linked to the road through the two great basts (esplanades) and other
passageways.

v The pilgrim who enters the Holy Precincts through the Bast-e Bila or the upper esplanade,

will first move through an area known as the Bast-e Balda Khiyaban. Shops stand on either side
of the bast. The Bast-e Bali leads to the Old Court. The court is situated on the north side
of the Holy Precincts. Its southern half was constructed by Amir "Ali Shir Nava’i and its northern
half by Shah ’Abbas.

The well known book, ‘Alam Ard-ye 'Abbdsi, reports that Shah *Abbas found the old court
and the fvdn of Amir ’Ali Shir Nava’i small and humble. He drew up a plan to remove the build-
ing lying to the east, which had been ruined, and to add it to the court in such a fashion that
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the ivdan would stand at the real centre of the court. He wished the court to have a second ivdn,
on the northern side, facing south, and two other ivdns on the east and west. He also ordered -
an avenue (khiydban) to be built from the east and west gates of the city, meeting the court
on both sides and running through these ivdns.

Thus a major transformation and enlargement of the court took place during the reign of Shah
’Abbas. Four openings were built at the upper and lower ends, and behind the openings small and
large rooms.

The length of the court from east to west is 104 metres and the width from north to south mea-
sures 64.5 metres. A stream runs through its centre. The stream, open in the past, has now been
covered over.

The court with ivdns is one of the characteristic structures in Iranian religious architecture,
which has drawn on traditional principles and has been little affected by foreign influences. With
its slightly recessed and lofty ivdns, the court provides the believer a place for prayer and contem-
plation and for mixing with other worshippers; and the ivdns, inspiring in form and rich in decoration,
have always drawn the pllgrlm and the worshipper.

The Old Court has four ivdns. All are of great beauty. The tile-work is exquisite, and relnforces
the spiritual effect of the surroundmgs

The Old Court is worked in polychrome tiles. Tiles that had chlpped or crumbled have been
replaced. The polychrome tiles of the ivdn will be replaced by mosaic tiles. These measures will
somewhat mar the unity of the tile-work of the court, but they were necessary as means of preserv-
ing the beauty of the court’s exterior.

Of the four dazzhng gold ivdns, one was built in 875-885 by Amlr "Ali shir Nava’i. Nader Shéh
had the ivdn gilded. It is now known as the Ivin-e Tald’i-ye Naderi (the Gold ivan of Nader). The
width of this ivdn is 7.80 metres, the length 14.70 metres and the height 21 metres. It is replete with
inscriptions and ezdrehs. The inscriptions draw on hadith of the Prophet. The entire roof is de-
corated in gold. Even the stalactites are in gold. The ivdn leads through four silver-plated doors to
the chamber of the Shrine.

The ivdn was repaired in the reign of Naser ad-Din Shah. An inscription on the southern side
commemorates the occasion. Four highly mterestmg niches have been built into the upper part
of the wall.
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- ivan-e Abbasi (fvan of Shah ’Abbas)

The Ivan of Shih *Abbds, on the northern side of the Old Court, was built by Shah ’*Abbas the
Great. The ezdreh is of plain black stone. The walls are decorated up to the ceiling in strikingly
beautiful faience tile and stalactites. The ivdn contains a fine mihrdb and four niches. The inscriptions
bear witness to the repair work done during the reign of Shéh *Abbas and also in the reign of Mo-
hammad Shah Qajar.

fvan-e Sa’at (The Clock ivan)

The west ivdn, known as the ivan-e S&’at or the Clock Ivan, was also built in the reign of Shah
’Abbés. Between the reign of Shah Abbas and the reign of Naser ad-Din Shih, the ivdn was re-
constructed. The width of the ivan is 6.90 metres and the height measures 24 metres. The tile-work
shows considerable mastery and originality. In 1340 (1921-22) repairs were done to the tile-work
and some other changes were introduced.

The N ﬁqqﬁreh—Khﬁneh fvan

Like the other three fvdn, the Naqqareh-Khéaneh Ivéin is highly interesting for its decorations
and tile-work. The ivdn faces the naqqdreh-khdneh. It is 7.80 metres wide, 18.20 metres long and
26 metres high.

The Naggareh-Khaneh Ivin was initially covered with polychrome (khaft-rang) tile. When the
structure underwent extensive repair in 1346 (1968-69), the old tile-work was replaced by beauti-
ful faience tiles. The interior stalactites were repaired and covered with mosaic tile.

The naqqdreh khdneh of the Old Court appears to have been built in the Q3jar era. Since the
structure was weak, extensive repair work and renovation was undertaken in 1338-40 (1959-61).
The new nagqdreh-khdneh is built on two floors, rising to a height of 9.50 metres. The fagade is a
work of beauty, decorated in faience tiles. The molding has been embellished with three rows of
stalactities. Above the stalactites, there is a row of rounded, small dome-like shapes in deep blue
whose stalactites are of great beauty.
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The Soffehs of the Old Court

Along the sides of the Court, in line with the robms, there are 12 large soffehs famous for their
calligraphic inscriptions, done by great Iranian calligraphers.

The Saqqa-Khaneh of the Old Court

In the middle of the old court there is a saqqd-khdneh known as the Saqqd-Khdneh-ye Esma’il
Tald. In the book, Badr-e Foriizdn it is written of this saqqd-khdneh that it contains a large sangdb
(single-piece marble pool) that Nader Shah carried back with him from Harat; and that Esma’il
Khan Tala’i set a roof on it, supported by marble columns. The walls are decorated with gold brick.

The length of each side of the saqqd-khdneh is 1.95 metres and the height up to the inner side
of the dome measures 4.55 metres. The height of the dome is 1.80 metres. The saqqd-khdneh was
renovated in 1346 (1927-28). It is now interestingly placed in the centre of the court and in the centre

-of four pools of water. :

Sahn-e Jadid (The New Court)

The New Court is situated in the eastern part of the Holy Shrine. It contains 56 lower rooms
linked together by openings and doors. Behind them there are rooms. The New Court was built
in the reign of Fath *Ali Shah. The initial decorations and tile-work were made in the reign of Mo-
hammad Shéah. _

The court measures 81.50 metres in length and 51 metres in width. The ezdreh is of black stone
and rises to a height of 1.44 metres. The entire wall is worked in polychrome tiles. The New Court
contains a large pool. It was renovated in 1345 (1926-27). Four ivdns and three large doors have
been built into the. four sides of the court. One of these is gilded and known as the Ivadn-e Tala-
ye Naseri (the Gold ivan of Naser).

ivin-e Tald-ye Nageri

This ivdn is linked through a silver door and through a small door to the Dar as-Sa’ddeh and
is connected to the Tomb Chamber. From a point immediately above the ezdreh, the walls are
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entirely plated with gold bricks. The ivdn is 7.25 metres wide, 15.30 metres long and 20 metres wide.
There are three gilded niches.

The Eastern Ivin and Portal

The eastern ivin and portal is connected to the south side of the ring. It is covered in beauti-
ful tiles and its ceiling is marked by fine stalactites. The ivan is 7.10 metres wide, 15.80 metres long
and 20 metres high.

~ The Southern ivin and Portal

The ezdreh of this ivdn is of stone. From the top of the ezdreh to the edge of the ceiling the
wall i1s covered with stalactite tiles. The ivan is 7.30 metres wide, 18.30 metres long and 20 metres
high. Standing a top a tower is a clock with four faces that can be seen at a considerable di-
stance. The clock-tower is in three floors, the top floor being covered by a green-coloured roof.
The last floor was built in 1354 (1975-76), and did nor exist when the present plans of the buildings
were drawn.

The North ivin and Portal

This ivdn measures 7.19 x 7.20 x 20 metres. There is passage from the ivdn to the Pa’in Khiyaban,
or Lower Esplanade. The ezdreh is of black stone. The rest of the walls are covered with tiles.

The New Court has been repaired and renovated on several occasions, since the foundations
had grown eak, they were reinforced in 1346 (1968-69). The black stone of the ezdreh was
replaced by stone of brighter colour.

The Basts (Esplanades)

Pilgrims generally enter the Holy Precincts through the two great esplanades, the Bast-e P3’in
(Lower Esplanade) and the Bast-e Bala (Upper Esplanade). The Bast-e Bala is 86 metres long,
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30 metres wide. On the two sides are shops. The Bast-e Bala leads to the Old Court. The entrance -
to the bast is in the present day through five portals. The central portal is the largest and co-
vered with attractive tiles. The Mehminkhineh-ye Razavi is located in the bast, and each day a
large number of people are fed there.

The Bast-e Pa’in stands facing the Bast-e Bala. It is 115 metres long and 29 metres wide. Its
entrance, like that of the Bast-e Bal4, is constituted by portals decorated with strikingly coloured tiles.

Sahn-e Pahlavi (The Pahlavi Court)

Reza Shah the Great, Founder of the Pahlavi Dynasty, who displayed special devotion to the
Eighth Imdm, ordered repair and renovation of the buildings of the Shrine. He also ordered the
construction of a new sahn, or court, south of the New Court and the ’Ali Taqi Mirzd Madresseh,
which was once a timcheh, or courtyard, but had suffered damage over time. The new sahn was
to provide room for a museum and a library.

Work on the library and museum began in 1316 (1937-38) and was completed in 1324 (1945-
46). But the need for a larger library and appropriate museum became evident in later years. Thus
at the orders His Imperial Majesty the Shahanshah Aryamehr, alternations were made to the
Pahlavi Court.

The library was pulled down and work was begun next to the present muséum, on a new library
and museum, utilizing modern techniques and principles, and maintaining traditional characteristics.

The construction work is now under way. With the removal of the library, the Sahn-e Pahlavi

~ has emerged as a large and striking court. The Dar az-Zohd and the mausoleum of Shaikh Bahai,

the famed scholar of the Safavid era, are situated to its north. And on the northern side a door -
has” been constructed leading to the New Court.

The Pahlavi Court contains attractive rooms, all of which have been decorated with the best
faience tile and which are among the finest examples of the execution of this form of art in the
present era. A large pool stands in the middle of the court. It is generous in dimension. The
reflection of lights in the pool at night-time makes a striking sight.

The Museum of the Holy Shrine is of great interest. Objects are on display on both floors. Of
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particular value are the galamkar curtains which, wherever they are hung, reflect a part of the
- handicraft art, the originality and the taste of Iranian artists in different ages.

The library of the Shrine houses important collections. The collection of Qur’ans is unique and
unrivalled for fineness of calligraphy and art of book-illumination, binding and cover decoration.
The library includes 7,000 hand-written manuscripts, each of which is unequalled for beauty and
importance.

‘The Gowhar Shad Mosque

The Gowhar Shad Mosque was built at the instance of Gowhar Shid Aghi. The architect was
Qavam ad-Din b. Zayn ad-Din Shirazi. It is without doubt among the most beautiful of Iran’s
. many striking mosques. The mosque appears to have been completed in 797 (1394-95). The ar-
chitects of the period, working to fulfill the wish of this devoted and imaginative lady, applied all
the genius of their art in building this place of worship. They raised a mosque that must leave
every viewer awe-stricken at its mastery of conception and skill of execution.

Before describing the distinguishing characteristics of the building, it is necessary to point out
that Iranian mosques are distinguished from all other mosques of Islam by their lofty ivdns, grace-
ful and beautifully decorated arches, and striking tiles. The Gowhar Shad Mosque also bears these
distinguishing marks.

The Gowhar Shad Mosque reflects the fullest expression of Iranian architecture. All the
distinguishing qualities of this architecture have been applied to its realisation. In particular, the
great ivdn (Ivin-e Magsireh) inspires, by its conception, execution and decoration, in viewer and
devotee alike, a spiritual calm, and a sense of peace.

The Ivan-e Magsireh is larger and more imposing than the other ivdns of the Gowhar Shad
Mosque. It is 37 metres long. Its entrance is about 13 metres wide. It is built to accommodate a
great many people. The interior decoration shows particular originality and taste. The artist or
artists charged with decoration of the ivdn must have concluded that even if the entire ceiling and
wall space were decorated with faience tiles and stalactites and great care lavished on working the
designs and the colours, the tile-work — given the size of the ivdn — would not create the desired
effect. They thus left the background a simple white and worked it, here and there, with medallions
and interesting design patterns.
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The effect of the whole has been to endow the ivdn with a beauty unmatched in any other
mosque, both in Iran and the world. The mihrdb of marble, stands amidst stalactite tiles, strikingly
decorated, making the over-all effect more imposing. '

Above the Ivian-e Magqstreh stands a fine dome. On the two sides of the ivdn, rise two mi-
narets. They stand next to the external fagade of the ivdn and rise from the ground to a height
of 43 metres. The placing of the base and stalk of the minarets on the two sides of the ivdn
is infrequently seen in other mosques. Generally, when it was desired to place the minarets on the
two sides of the ivdn, the base of the minarets was set on the roof adjacent to the ivdn.

The situation of the minarets of the Ivan-e Magsireh adds to strength of the building, relieves
the effect of the great depth of the ivdn and draws the eye to the minarets themselves. The height
of the dome above the Ivin-e Maqsireh measured to the tip of the needle rising above the dome
i1s 41 metres.

On the two sides of the Ivin-e Magsireh there is a calligraphic inscription part of which is the
work of Baysanqor Shahrokh, the son of Amir Taymir. It is considered one of the finest pieces
of the art of this era. Unfortunately, part of iscription was lost during repairs; but what remains
speaks of the beauty and highly developed calligraphy of Baysanqor.

Another ivan of the Gowhar Shad Mosque is situated on the north side and is connected to
the Dar as-Siyyadeh. An inscription speaks of repairs undertaken during the reign of Shah *Abbas.
Another inscription commemorates the repair of this or another section of the mosque during
the reign of Shah Soltdn Hosayn. Further repairs were undertaken by Shah Solayman.

The west ivdn of the Gowhar Shad Mosque stands on the bazaar side. This section, including
the wall and the rooms have been pulled down for reconstruction and retiling by the Khorédsan
Endowments Office. The foundations of that part of the building had grown weak. The east ivdn
is situated on the side nearest to the sahn of the museum. The tile-work is exquisite.

The Gowhar Shad contains eight shabestdns of various sizes.

Two large shabestdns stand on the two sides of the Ivan-e Maqstireh. Each contains 40 columns.
Vaulted arches, in the Timurd style have been built above the arches. On the two sides of the east
ivan, there are two other shabestdns which are smaller than the columned shabestins. Two other
shabestins have been built on the two sides of the north ivdn, and are used as a prayer area.

The dome of the Gowhar Shid Mosque, standing above the Ivin-e Magsireh, is covered with
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green tile. It is built on a cylindrically shaped base, of limited helght The main part of the dome
begins with a soft curve which grows into a semi-circle and ends in a slender point. _

The stalk is covered with tiles worked in regular geometric designs. Above these are tiles which
mark the beginning of the dome proper. The face of the dome is of green tile, decorated in the lower
part with multicoloured des1gns The whole blends effectively with the two lofty minarets.

The mosque is square in shape, measuring 50 x 55 metres. As evident from the inscriptions of
the north ivdn and the ivan-e Maqgireh, the mosque was completed in 797 (1394-95). The mosque
required repair and even reconstruction over time. Such renovation, in the western part of the
mosque, became necessary in the present era. The ceilings, rooms and the ivdn, almost down to

the ezdreh, were badly damaged and held up with wood supports. _
' In recent years, the brick floor of the mosque was removed and replaced with stone. A pool
was built in the centre of the court to permit worshippers to perform their ablutions, and the Pir-e
Zan Mosque, which previously stood at the centre of the court, was pulled down.

The original inscriptions, except in certain areas (including the Baysanqor inscription), also
in time required replacement. New inscriptions were based on traditional styles and appear on
faience and non-mosaic tile. But the foundations of the building, and particularly the Ivan-e
Magsiireh, remained untouched. v '

The date 821 (1419-20) in an inscription in the Ivin-e Maqsireh by Baysanqgor indicates that
repairs were done to the mosque in his day, and that the walls of the mosque were not all decorated
with tile during the lifetime of Gowhar Shad Khatin. This task was left to Baysanqor.

Other dates, 1059 (1649-50) 1366 (1946-47) and 1053 (1643-44) indicate repairs to the tile-work
of the mosque at these dates.

The early Islamic mosques were exceedingly 81mp1e As mentioned earlier, it was the Iranians
who began to embellish the mosque with tile work, inscriptions and architectural forms, such as
minaret, the ivdn and the sahn. Even in the earlier period, when only plain brick was used,
Iranian builders managed to utilize the bricks in such a fashion as to break the monotony of the
facade and create a strikingly-patterned exterior.
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Changes to the Gowhar Shid Mosque

The Gowhar shdd Mosque, like other historic structures, has not remained immune from the.
ravages of time. In addition to repair work done on the mosque in earlier ages, of whose exact dates
and nature we are unfortunately not fully informed, repair and renovation was undertaken in the
present era, beginning in the year 1343 (1924-25).

The doors and the tiles and the ceiling of the Ivin-e Maqsiireh were repaired. The exterior tile
covering the dome, which had been damaged, was completely removed, and the dome was rebuilt
with cement and iron, retaining the original shape, and once again covered with tile.

The east ivdn was pulled down to the foundations for reconstruction. The south-east wall, which
over time had grown bent and crooked was repaired. The shabestdns also benefitted from this re-
novation work.

Thus, the need for repair has impaired the original unity of the buildings. Some of the structures
have been entirely rebuilt. The new buildings were laid on the original foundations, but they cannot
be considered as original or historic structures. These descriptions apply also to other buildings
of the Shrine of Imadm RezAa.

These facts emphasize the point made earlier, that examples of architectural style stretchlng
back from the 3rd century (10th century A.D.) to the present day can be seen in the buildings of
the Holy Shrine and this makes the task of research and identification a difficult one.

The highly developed application of various arts to the decoration and embellishment of the
mosque was intended by the Iranians to capture the lofty majesty and high ideals of their religion
and to symbolise the eternal glory and values of Islam.

It is the majesty of God, expressed in the genius of the artist and builder, that impresses the
worshipper standing before the Ivin-e Maqsiireh of the Gowhar Shad Mosque and fills him with
awe. The muted colours against the white background and ceiling of this building fills the soul
with peace. The high fagade of the fvdn emphasizes of the glory of the Almighty, for whose worship
this mosque and other religious buildings of Islam were created.

The ceiling is shaped in a pointed arch, whose soft convex curve is of striking originality and
characteristic of Iranian style in the construction of ivdns. The Ivin-e Maggiireh cannot but remind
the viewer of the genius of Iranian builders and craftsmen and their contribution to the development
of the mosque.
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The special attention paid by kings and governors in each age to the exterior beauty of mosques
led to the maturing of the arts of tile-glazing, calligraphy and fashioning of stalactites, and to the
development of the ivdn and the shabestdn. Iranian tile-makers, encouraged and supported, suc-
ceeded in developing new methods and designs in tile and mirror-work. If others have copied these
forms and arts, the followers never surpassed the creativity of the original masters.
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(*) Except where the foundation was reinforced, and other changes made, during the enlargement of the Tomb
Chamber.

(*) Mashhad was looted and razed by the Ghuzz Turks in 558 (1161), the Mongols in 695-6 (1296), and the
Uzbeks in 912 (1507) and again in 951 (1545) and in 997 (1589). The followers of ’Abd al-Mo’men Uzbek are re-
ported to have killed so many of the inhabitants, that a special place of slaughter was created. The burial ground
associated with this place, evidence of which remains, is a reminder of the massacre. Sultan Mahmid of Sistin in
1122 (1709), the Ahdali in 1135 (1722) and Ahmad Shah in 1167 (1753) inflicted damage on the city. Turkoman
tribes attacked the city in 1241 (1825).

(*) The door was built in 1271 (1854-55) at the orders of Fereydin Mirzd Farminfarmi and gold-plated in 1345
(1926-27).

(*) Reference has often been made to faience, or mosaic, tile. Such tile, which decorates the walls and fagades
of Iranian mosques and some of the buildings of the Holy Shrine of Imidm Reza, is without doubt an Iranian
innovation.

Mosaic tile 1s made by a special process. Flint stone, extracted from mines, is broken up into smaller pieces
at workshops and mixed with a sticky white clay. The mixture, to which water is added, is ground in a mill to
create a thick paste, which is then poured into special molds. After the tile bricks in the molds are dry, the rough
edges are smoothed and the stone slightly polished. Colour is then added, and the tiles baked in ovens for about
24 hours, the temperature regulated to create the particular colour desired. The square shaped tiles, now coloured
in those brilliant hues, are taken to a mosaic workshop. Here master-craftsmen, trained in a time-old tradition, trace
on paper the desired mosaic patterns, number each piece of the mosaic by colour, cut up the paper pattern into
its parts and paste these on the variously-coloured tiles.

The tiles are now cut, with fine chisels and tools, according to the paper pattern, generally into geometrically
shaped sections, and the sides of each piece polished. The pieces are then laid down, polished and coloured-face
down, on a flat piece of ground, according to the pre-determined pattern. When one section of the mosaic pattern
is fully laid out, a layer of cement is poured over it. Once the cement is dry, the mosaic is ready for mounting.

If the wall on which the mosaic is to be mounted is convex or concave, then the mosaic block has to be shaped
accordingly. As can be imagined, this is a task which requires great skill. The same materials are utilised to make
non-mosaic square tiles. Such tiles are, however, first worked in a multi-coloured design, then baked and glazed in ovens.
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